



Behavioral Health Care Access Among Lesbian, Gay, and Bisexual (LGB) Populations



Behavioral Health Care Access Among Lesbian, Gay, and Bisexual (LGB) Populations was prepared for the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) under contract number HHSS283201700031I/75S203 22F42003 with SAMHSA, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS). Lisa Park served as contracting officer's representative.

Recommended Citation

Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration: *Behavioral Health Care Access Among Lesbian, Gay, and Bisexual (LGB) Populations*. Publication No. PEP24-07-026, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, 2024.

Originating Office

National Mental Health and Substance Use Policy Laboratory, Office of the Assistant Secretary, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, 5600 Fishers Lane, Rockville, MD 20857. SAMHSA Publication No. PEP24-07-026. Released 2024.

Electronic Access

Products may be downloaded at https://store.samhsa.gov.

Disclaimer

Nothing in this document constitutes a direct or indirect endorsement by SAMHSA or HHS of any non-federal entity's products, services, or policies.

Public Domain Notice

This publication is in the public domain and may be reproduced or copied without permission from SAMHSA. Citation of the source is appreciated. However, this publication may not be reproduced or distributed for a fee without the specific, written authorization of the Office of Communications, SAMHSA, HHS.

The images used on this publication are licensed stock photography images that are not in the public domain and may not be utilized by others. The photographs feature model(s) for illustrative purposes only that have no affiliation with SAMHSA.

Nondiscrimination Notice

The Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) complies with applicable Federal civil rights laws and does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, age, disability, religion, or sex (including pregnancy, sexual orientation, and gender identity). SAMHSA does not exclude people or treat them differently because of race, color, national origin, age, disability, religion, or sex (including pregnancy, sexual orientation, and gender identity).

Table of Contents

	Introduction	1
	Brief Overview of Methodology	1
	Evolution of NSDUH Data Collection on Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity	2
	Results	3
	Insurance Coverage	3
	Substance Use	4
	Mental Health Concerns	6
	Receipt of Needed Substance Use and Mental Health Care	8
	Barriers to Mental Health Care	12
	Conclusion	13
	References	16
Appendix A	Contributors	19
Appendix B	Methodology	20
Appendix C	Detailed Tables	22

Introduction

Lesbian, gay, and bisexual (LGB) individuals experience higher rates of substance use and mental health conditions compared to straight individuals. These individuals also experience barriers that impact their ability to access treatment for these conditions, including difficulties finding LGB-affirming providers, 5,6 stigma, 6-9 and patient financial constraints. 5,6

In 2023, the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) released findings from the National Survey on Drug Use and Health (NSDUH) titled *Lesbian, Gay, and Bisexual Behavioral Health: Results from the 2021 and 2022 National Surveys on Drug Use.* ¹⁰ The report highlighted elevated rates of substance use, thoughts of suicide, substance use disorders, and mental illness among LGB populations compared to straight individuals.

While the NSDUH report portrays alarming substance use and mental health patterns within this population after stratifying by sex and adjusting for age differences between populations, it does not control for other factors that may also be associated with increased substance use and mental health conditions and impact access to treatment. These factors include race, 11,12 educational attainment, 13,14 marital status, 15,16 and financial hardship. 17,18 This report accounts for those variables and presents information on health insurance coverage and barriers to care. For more information on how these factors were accounted for in the current analysis, please see Appendix B, Methodology.

Brief Overview of Methodology

For the current analyses, NSDUH data from 2015 to 2019 were pooled to investigate whether the disparities identified in the 2023 NSDUH report existed in 2015–2019 and whether findings are statistically significant when other contributing factors are statistically controlled. These 5 years of NSDUH data were chosen due to lack of sexual identity data in earlier surveys and data compatibility issues with later years of the survey.

Key Terms

- Bisexual: Describes an individual who
 has the capacity to form enduring physical,
 romantic, and/or emotional attractions to
 those of the same gender or to those of
 another gender.
- Gay:¹ Describes individuals whose enduring physical, romantic, and/or emotional attractions are to people of the same gender.
- Lesbian: Describes a woman who has a romantic and/or sexual orientation toward women.
- LGB:¹ Describes the acronym for lesbian, gay, and bisexual individuals. LGB is used interchangeably with "sexual minority" throughout this report.
- **Sexual identity:**² Describes how, in the NSDUH, sexual identity among adults aged 18 or older is determined based on the question "Which one of the following do you consider yourself to be?" with response options of "heterosexual, that is, straight," "lesbian," "gay," or "bisexual."
- Sexual minority: Describes populations that include, but are not limited to, individuals who identify as lesbian, gay, and bisexual. Sexual minority is used interchangeably with "LGB" throughout this report.
- Sexual orientation: Describes an individual's physical, romantic, and/or emotional attraction to others.
- **Straight:** Describes a sexual orientation for women who are exclusively attracted to men and for men who are exclusively attracted to women.
- Transgender:¹ Describes individuals whose gender identity is incongruent with their sex assigned at birth.

Research Question

Do disparities identified in the 2023 NSDUH report exist in NSDUH 2015–2019 data when potential predictive factors, such as race, educational attainment, marital status, and financial hardship, are statistically controlled?

The study looks specifically at differences by sexual identity on the following variables:

- Health insurance coverage
- Mental health and substance use conditions
- Mental health and substance use treatment
- Barriers to care

Evolution of NSDUH Data Collection on Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity

2015

NSDUH began including questions on sexual attraction and sexual identity for respondents aged 18 and older.²

2015-2019

The current study focuses on NSDUH data collected during this period.

()- 2020

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, data collection methodology was significantly adjusted, rendering comparisons of LGB populations invalid with previous years ¹⁹ and subsequent years 2021²⁰ and 2022.²¹

- 2023

NSDUH shifted from using a binary measure of "male" or "female" and began allowing respondents to self-report their gender identity. 10 NSDUH also began asking all respondents aged 12 and older about their sexual identity. (The survey does not include individuals younger than 12.)

To account for contributing factors, data were aggregated across multiple years, and matched cohorts with similar characteristics were created from the same response year. This approach allowed for direct comparisons between gay and bisexual males and their straight counterparts, as well as between lesbian and bisexual females and their straight counterparts. Additionally, comparisons were made within the gender and sexual minority groups themselves, such as between bisexual males and gay males and between bisexual females and lesbian females, to further explore nuanced differences and similarities within these subgroups. Propensity score matching was employed to generate comparable groups using the variables of age, race, educational attainment, marital status, family income, and participation in government assistance programs. Statistical tests were conducted to examine significance of mean differences in group comparisons.

The study found that the disparities identified in the 2023 report also existed in 2015–2019, and that these disparities remained after applying statistical controls. For example, sexual minority males and females were more likely to use marijuana and opioids compared to straight males and females. They were more likely to experience mental health symptoms, and among those with a perceived unmet need for treatment, were more likely to report experiencing several barriers to behavioral health care.

This report highlights the key findings from the analyses. Please note that because the matching algorithm selected straight respondents to match with gay and bisexual individuals, the straight individuals matched to each group may differ. For instance, the straight individuals matched to gay respondents might not be the same as those matched to bisexual respondents due to differences in the characteristics used for matching. This variation can result in different percentages or outcomes when comparing straight males to gay versus bisexual males, and similarly for comparing straight females to lesbian versus bisexual females. Detailed methodology and tables of findings are included in Appendixes B and C.

Results

Insurance Coverage

In general, LGB individuals had comparable health insurance coverage compared to their straight peers.

Insurance Coverage by Sexual Identity and Gender

		М	ale		Female			
Insurance Type	Gay (n=2,348)	Straight (n = 95,196)	Bisexual (n = 2,350)	Straight (n = 95,184)	Lesbian (n = 2,292)	Straight (n=103,682)	Bisexual (n = 8,017)	Straight (n=109,353)
Privately Purchased	59.7%*	57.1%	55.4%	57.1%	54.8%	54.9%	51.3%*	54.6%
Medicaid or Other Public ^a	13.0%*	15.2%	16.6%	15.2%	20.2%	21.0%	24.4%*	21.7%
Medicare	13.1%*	10.9%	12.2%*	10.9%	11.8%	11.9%	11.9%	11.4%
Uninsured	14.2%*	16.8%	15.9%	16.8%	13.2%	12.2%	12.3%	12.3%

^{*} Significantly different from "Straight," with p < 0.05. a Includes Medicaid/CHIP, TRICARE, CHAMPVA, the VA, or military health care.

Key Findings



Have privately purchased insurance

Gay males

1.05 times more likely
than straight males

Lesbian females

1.1 times more likely
than bisexual females



Have Medicare

Gay males

1.1 times more likely
than straight males

Bisexual males

1.2 times more likely
than straight males



Have Medicaid or other public health insurance

Bisexual females 1.1 times more likely than straight females



Be insured

Gay males **1.2 times more likely** than straight males

Substance Use

Overall, sexual minorities, regardless of gender, were more likely to report use of most substances in the past month.

Past-Month Substance Use by Sexual Identity and Gender

		M	ale		Female				
Past-Month Substance Use	Gay (n=2,348)	Straight (n = 95,854)	Bisexual (n = 2,350)	Straight (n = 95,856)	Lesbian (n = 2,292)	Straight (n=104,171)	Bisexual (n = 8,017)	Straight (n=109,896)	
Alcohol	66.5%*	60.9%	62.4%	60.8%	61.8%*	53.4%	62.8%*	53.5%	
Cigarettes	12.9%	12.2%	14.0%	13.1%	11.8%*	7.8%	13.7%*	7.9%	
Cocaine	2.3%*	1.3%	1.9%	1.3%	1.0%*	0.5%	1.7%*	0.6%	
Inhalants	5.2%*	0.2%	1.3%*	0.2%	0.2%	0.1%	0.3%*	0.1%	
Marijuana	22.3%*	16.3%	22.3%*	16.4%	17.7%*	9.5%	24.6%*	9.8%	
Methamphetamine	1.8%*	0.5%	1.0%	0.5%	0.4%	0.2%	0.9%*	0.3%	
Opioids	3.3%*	1.8%	2.5%	1.8%	2.6%*	1.2%	3.5%*	1.3%	

^{*} Significantly different from "Straight," with p < 0.05.

Key Findings



Use alcohol

Gay males
1.1 times
more likely
than straight males

Sexual minority females
1.2 times
more likely
than straight females



Use cocaine

Gay males
1.8 times
more likely
than straight
males

Lesbian females

2 times
more likely
than straight
females

Bisexual females
2.8 times
more likely
than straight
females



Smoke cigarettes

Lesbian females
1.5 times
more likely
than straight females

Bisexual females

1.8 times

more likely
than straight females



Use inhalants

Gay males
26 times
more likely
than straight males

Bisexual females
3 times
more likely
than straight females



Use marijuana

Sexual minority males 1.4 times more likely than straight males Lesbian females
1.8 times
more likely
than straight
females

Bisexual females
2.5 times
more likely
than straight
females



Use methamphetamine

Gay males
3.6 times
more likely
than straight males

Bisexual females

3 times
more likely
than straight females



Misuse opioids

Gay males

1.8 times
more likely
than straight
males

Lesbian females
2.2 times
more likely
than straight
females

Bisexual females
2.7 times
more likely
than straight
females

Mental Health Concerns

All sexual minorities, regardless of gender, were more likely than straight individuals to have experienced mental health concerns in the past year, including any mental illness (AMI) and serious mental illness (SMI). They were more likely to have had suicidal thoughts, made a suicide plan, or attempted suicide in the past year, and to have experienced a past-year major depressive episode.

Mental Health Concerns by Sexual Identity and Gender

		M	ale		Female				
Mental Health Concerns	Gay (n = 2,348)	Straight (n = 95,854)	Bisexual (n = 2,350)	Straight (n = 95,856)	Lesbian (n = 2,292)	Straight (n=104,171)	Bisexual (n = 8,017)	Straight (n=109,896)	
Any mental illness (AMI) ^{a†}	31.6%*	16.6%	38.0%*	16.6%	37.8%*	24.4%	49.7%*	24.7%	
Serious mental illness (SMI) ^{b†}	9.4%*	3.7%	13.5%*	3.7%	13.3%*	6.2%	19.1%*	6.3%	
Major depressive episode ^{c†}	13.6%*	6.1%	18.3%*	6.1%	17.6%*	10.0%	24.5%*	10.2%	
Felt nervous [‡]	37.9%*	24.4%	40.1%*	24.4%	41.3%*	32.5%	47.9%*	33.1%	
Felt restless/ fidgety [‡]	34.7%*	23.4%	38.6%*	23.4%	37.3%*	24.9%	43.9%*	25.4%	
Felt so sad nothing could cheer them up [‡]	20.9%*	12.3%	25.5%*	12.4%	24.9%*	15.3%	30.9%*	15.7%	
Felt down on self/worthless [‡]	23.6%*	13.4%	28.7%*	13.4%	25.9%*	15.9%	31.9%*	16.4%	
Suicidal thoughts [†]	11.8%*	5.0%	17.0%*	5.0%	12.5%*	5.3%	17.0%*	5.5%	
Suicide plan†	4.4%*	1.5%	6.4%*	1.5%	5.1%*	1.6%	6.5%*	1.6%	
Suicide attempt [†]	2.8%*	0.7%	3.2%*	0.7%	2.1%*	0.7%	2.9%*	0.8%	

^{*} Significantly different from "Straight," with p < 0.05. † Indicates concern experienced in past year. ‡ Indicates concern experienced in past month.

^a AMI among adults was defined as adults aged 18 or older who currently or at any time in the past year have had a diagnosable mental, behavioral, or emotional disorder, regardless of the level of impairment in carrying out major life activities.

b SMI among adults was defined as adults aged 18 or older who currently or at any time in the past year have had a diagnosable mental, behavioral, or emotional disorder resulting in substantial impairment in carrying out major life activities.

^c A respondent was classified as having a major depressive episode (MDE) if they reported experiencing at least five out of the nine criteria used to define an adult as having had MDE, where at least one of the criteria is a depressed mood or loss of interest or pleasure in daily activities.

Key Findings



Experienced a major depressive episode

Gay males

2.2 times more likely
than straight males

Bisexual males

3 times more likely
than straight males

Lesbian females

1.8 times more likely
than straight females

Bisexual females

2.4 times more likely
than straight females



Experienced suicidal thoughts

Gay males

2.4 times more likely
than straight males

Bisexual males

3.4 times more likely
than straight males

Lesbian females

2.4 times more likely
than straight females

Bisexual females

3 times more likely
than straight females



Made a suicide plan

Gay males
2.9 times more likely
than straight males

Bisexual males

4.3 times more likely
than straight males

Lesbian females
3.2 times more likely
than straight females

Bisexual females
4.1 times more likely
than straight females



Attempted suicide

Gay males
4 times more likely
than straight males

Bisexual males
4.5 times more likely than straight males

Lesbian females

3 times more likely
than straight females

Bisexual females

3.6 times more likely
than straight females

Receipt of Needed Substance Use and Mental Health Care

Among individuals who needed treatment for substance use and mental health care, LGB individuals were as likely or more likely to receive needed substance use and mental health services compared to their straight peers. Among LGB individuals, gay and bisexual males reported the highest rates of unmet substance use and mental health care needs.

Past-Year Treatment Gap for Substance Use (SU) Care by Sexual Identity and Gender

		M	ale		Female			
	Gay (n=2,348)	Straight (n=12,957)	Bisexual (n=2,350)	Straight (n=12,927)	Lesbian (n = 2,292)	Straight $(n=7,803)$	Bisexual (n = 8,017)	Straight (n = 9,107)
Did Not Receive Needed SU Care ^a	87.6%	88.9%	90.9%	88.8%	86.5%	88.3%	86.6%	88.0%
Needed 30 Cares								

^a Defined as individuals who did not receive treatment at a specialty facility for illicit drug or alcohol use in the past year, among those who needed it. Individuals were defined as needing treatment if they met at least one of the following criteria: 1) dependent on any illicit drug or alcohol in the past year, 2) abused illicit drugs or alcohol in the past year, or 3) received treatment for illicit drug or alcohol use at a specialty facility in the past year.

Past-Year Treatment Gap for Mental Health (MH) Care by Sexual Identity and Gender

		M	ale		Female			
	Gay (n = 2,348)	Straight (n=16,247)	Bisexual (n = 2,350)	Straight (n=16,447)	Lesbian (n = 2,292)	Straight (n = 25,712)	Bisexual (n = 8,017)	Straight (n = 29,289)
Did Not Receive Needed MH Care ^a	53.6%*	67.0%	57.6%*	67.0%	46.6%*	53.0%	46.6%*	53.2%

^{*} Significantly different from "Straight," with p < 0.05.

Key Findings



Individuals who needed treatment for illicit drug or alcohol use

Sexual minorities, regardless of gender, were **equally as likely** to have an unmet need for substance use care as straight individuals



Individuals with any mental illness (AMI) who received needed mental health care

Sexual minority males were

1.2 times more likely
to have received care than
straight males

Sexual minority females were
1.1 times more likely
to have received care than
straight females

^a Defined as individuals who did not receive mental health treatment in the past year, among those with any mental illness (AMI).

Among individuals who needed treatment for illicit drug or alcohol use, LGB individuals received care in specialty facilities at higher rates than their straight counterparts. Among those with AMI, LGB individuals were more likely than straight individuals to receive mental health treatment.

Past-Year Receipt of Needed Substance Use Treatment in Specialty Facility, by Sexual Minority/Majority Status

	LGB (n = 22,889)	Straight (n = 26,433)
Received Needed Substance Use Treatment in Specialty Facility ^a	13.1%*	11.4%

^{*} Significantly different from "Straight," with p < 0.05.

Key Findings



Individuals who received needed treatment for illicit drug or alcohol use in a specialty facility

LGB individuals were 1.1 times more likely to receive needed treatment in a specialty facility than straight individuals

Past-Year Receipt of Mental Health Treatment Among Individuals With Any Mental Illness (AMI), by Sexual Minority/Majority Status

	LGB (n=7,197)	Straight (n = 47,446)
Received Mental Health Treatment	51.2%*	41.4%

^{*} Significantly different from "Straight," with p < 0.05.

^a Defined as individuals who received needed treatment for illicit drug or alcohol use in the past year in a specialty facility, among those who needed it. Specialty facility is defined as a drug and alcohol rehabilitation facility (inpatient or outpatient), hospital (inpatient only), or mental health center. Individuals were defined as needing treatment if they met at least one of the following criteria: 1) dependent on any illicit drug or alcohol in the past year, 2) abused illicit drugs or alcohol in the past year, or 3) received treatment for illicit drug or alcohol use at a specialty facility in the past year.

Key Findings



Individuals with AMI who received mental health treatment

LGB individuals were **1.2 times more likely** to receive mental health treatment than straight individuals

Past-Year Treatment Gap for Substance Use and Mental Health Care by Sexual Identity, Gender, and Race/Ethnicity

			Male		Female						
	Gay	Straight	Bisexual	Straight	Lesbian	Straight	Bisexual	Straight			
Past-Year Treatment Gap for Substance Use (SU) Care ^a											
White	86.9%	88.2%	88.3%	88.2%	84.7%	87.2%	84.6%	86.8%			
Black	91.7%	88.1%	95.2%	88.0%	83.7%	90.3%	92.0%	90.1%			
Other Race	88.4%	89.0%	95.0%	89.0%	90.0%	86.2%	89.5%	86.0%			
Hispanic	87.8%	91.2%	97.7%*	91.8%	90.2%	93.1%	88.6%*	93.0%			

Past-Year Treatment Gap for Substance Use and Mental Health Care by Sexual Identity, Gender, and Race/Ethnicity (continued)

		I	Male			Female					
	Gay	Straight	Bisexual	Straight	Lesbian	Straight	Bisexual	Straight			
Past-Year Treatment Gap for Mental Health (MH) Care ^b											
White	45.5%*	62.6%	54.0%*	62.6%	39.8%*	46.6%	41.1%*	46.8%			
Black	71.2%	75.1%	75.1%	75.1%	75.6%	68.0%	59.8%*	68.1%			
Other Race	66.5%	76.1%	58.8%*	75.9%	52.8%	64.1%	57.0%*	64.0%			
Hispanic	68.8%	75.5%	59.4%*	75.6%	59.1%	65.2%	53.9%*	65.3%			

^{*} Significantly different from "Straight," with p < 0.05.

Note: Sample sizes vary by race.

Key Findings



Receipt of mental health care, among individuals with AMI

Bisexual Hispanic males were **1.1 times more likely** than straight Hispanic males to have an unmet treatment need for substance use care

Bisexual Hispanic females were **1.6 times more likely** than straight Hispanic females to have received substance use care



Receipt of mental health care, among individuals with AMI

Bisexual White males 1.5 times more likely than straight White males Bisexual Hispanic and other non-Hispanic males 1.3 times more likely than their straight counterparts Gay White males

1.4 times more
likely than straight
White males

Lesbian White females 1.1 times more likely than straight White females

Bisexual Hispanic females 1.7 times more likely than straight Hispanic females Bisexual White, Black, and other non-Hispanic females 1.1 times more likely than their straight counterparts

^a Defined as individuals who did not receive needed treatment for illicit drug or alcohol use in a specialty facility in the past year, among those who needed it. Individuals were defined as needing treatment if they met at least one of the following criteria: 1) dependent on any illicit drug or alcohol in the past year, 2) abused illicit drugs or alcohol in the past year, or 3) received treatment for illicit drug or alcohol use at a specialty facility in the past year.

b Defined as individuals who did not receive any mental health treatment in the past year, among those with any mental illness (AMI).

Barriers to Mental Health Care

Among those with perceived unmet needs for mental health care in the past year, LGB individuals, regardless of gender, had higher reported rates of certain barriers. Cost was the most cited barrier to care.

Past-Year Barriers to Mental Health Care by Sexual Identity and Gender

		N	Nale		Female				
Barrier	Gay (n = 2,348)	Straight (n = 4,295)	Bisexual (n = 2,350)	Straight (n = 4,392)	Lesbian (n = 2,292)	Straight $(n = 9,247)$	Bisexual (n = 8,017)	Straight (n=11,138)	
Cost	46.5%*	38.2%	48.4%*	38.1%	49.4%*	37.2%	47.2%*	37.3%	
Did not know where to go	26.7%	24.9%	26.8%	24.8%	22.5%	23.6%	27.1%*	23.7%	
Fear of being committed ^a	17.7%	14.4%	18.9%*	14.6%	20.0%*	11.9%	20.4%*	12.2%	

^{*} Significantly different from "Straight," with p < 0.05.

Key Findings



Cite cost as a barrier

Gay males

1.2 times more likely than straight males

Bisexual males and sexual minority females

1.3 times more likely than their straight counterparts



Cite not knowing where to go

Bisexual females
1.1 times more likely
than straight females



Cite fear of being committed

Bisexual males

1.3 times more likely
than straight males

Sexual minority females

1.7 times more likely
than straight females

a Reflects respondents' concerns that they might be committed to a psychiatric hospital or might have to take medicine.

Conclusion

The current study reinforces the urgent need to address substance use and mental health concerns among LGB populations. Notably, bisexual females represent the largest sexual minority subgroup within this study—exceeding the combined numbers of sexual minority males and lesbian females combined—while also experiencing the most severe disparities.

Despite having health insurance, sometimes at a higher rate than non-LGB populations, many LGB individuals still did not receive needed behavioral health care. Additionally, although LGB individuals were more likely to receive needed mental health care compared to their straight counterparts, those with a perceived unmet need for mental health care reported encountering higher rates of certain barriers to access. These barriers, which include cost and fear of involuntary commitment, highlight the complex landscape of mental health services for LGB individuals, suggesting that while many do seek care, significant challenges still persist for others. Among this vulnerable population, untreated behavioral health concerns have large economic, financial and

intangible costs, including loss of productivity, well-being, and even life.²² The findings from this study mirror those of the previous 2023 NSDUH report, which also highlighted elevated rates of substance use, thoughts of suicide, substance use disorders, and mental illness among LGB populations. This report controls for potential confounders such as financial hardship and race.

Behavioral health disparities experienced by LGB individuals may result from the stress they endure due to harassment, discrimination, and victimization based on their sexual orientation. In the case of bisexual females, this mistreatment frequently occurs in the context of intimate relationships. Bisexual females experience higher rates of mistreatment, including sexual, emotional, and psychological control/violence and intimate stalking, than lesbian females, gay males, and bisexual males, illustrating that this mistreatment stems not only from societal factors and attitudes but also from complex dynamics within their personal relationships. ^{23,24}



The fear and experience of encountering stigma and discrimination societally, within intimate relationships, and within the health care sector creates chronic stress, heightening LGB individuals' (and particularly bisexual women's)²⁵ vulnerability to mental health issues, and subsequently, substance use as a coping mechanism.^{7,8} The fear of stigma and the experience of discrimination not only impact their health but also act as a barrier to seeking and receiving care. Research has indicated that LGB individuals commonly report encountering negative and discriminatory treatment from health care providers, with many reporting instances of denial of care, disrespectful treatment, and dismissal of their concerns by providers.^{5,6,26} These experiences create reluctance among LGB individuals to seek care, which can lead to delaying or forgoing medical services.5,6,26

The intersection of sexual orientation, race, socioeconomic status, and gender identity further complicates access to care and health outcomes. Individuals who identify as LGB and belong to racial or ethnic minorities often face compounded barriers due to systemic racism and discrimination,²⁷ which can exacerbate health disparities, including higher rates of substance use and mental health disorders.²⁸ Socioeconomic status plays a significant role, as lower income and education levels can limit access to both health care resources and insurance coverage.⁵ Additionally, gender identity intersects with sexual orientation in ways that can influence health outcomes and experiences with health care systems, where transgender individuals may face unique challenges related to both gender and sexual identity. 29,30 Studies conducted with bisexual females have suggested that intersecting experiences of biphobia and sexism negatively affect their experiences receiving mental health care.³¹ Addressing these intersecting factors is crucial for developing equitable and effective health policies and interventions that consider the multifaceted nature of discrimination and access issues.

The Federal Government has prioritized improving and expanding its efforts to collect information on sexual orientation and gender identity.³² Though national surveys like the NSDUH have made great

strides in this area (including collecting information on sexual identity since 2015 and introducing questions on gender identity in 2023), there is a pressing need for more focused national data collection efforts to capture the unique experiences of LGB individuals, particularly in regard to behavioral health challenges, barriers to needed care, and treatment access and utilization. These efforts should involve LGB individuals and providers serving this community in all aspects of question development, testing, and evaluation.³³

The current study underscores the urgent need to address the issue of behavioral health care access among LGB individuals on a national level. Its findings reinforce the higher prevalence of substance use and mental health concerns experienced by LGB individuals and highlight the barriers they face in accessing the mental health treatment and counseling they feel they need. These behavioral health care needs and barriers to care must be addressed at the federal level to ensure equitable access to behavioral health care for this population. Specific recommendations include increasing federal funding for LGB-focused behavioral health care programs, with an emphasis on ensuring that such funding effectively trickles down to community-based organizations. Furthermore, it is essential to ensure reimbursement policies cover culturally competent care; to implement stronger antidiscrimination measures and best practices, particularly within health care settings; and to promote further research to identify and address the unique challenges faced by LGB individuals. Additionally, expanding access to technology-driven solutions, such as telehealth, can improve care by providing more flexible options for individuals in remote areas or areas with a shortage of affirming providers.³⁴

Findings from this study have significant implications for inclusive health policies and future research. For behavioral health providers and organizations, the results illustrate the critical need for culturally competent care that addresses the specific needs of LGB individuals. Providers should be trained to understand the unique challenges faced by LGB populations, including the impact of stigma

and discrimination on mental health and substance use. Implementing protocols that create a welcoming and respectful environment could help reduce barriers to care and improve treatment outcomes.³⁵

For payers, including insurance companies and government health programs, the study highlights the importance of ensuring that behavioral health services are accessible and tailored to the needs of LGB individuals. Policies should focus on removing financial barriers and covering a comprehensive range of mental health and substance use services to better serve this population, as well as health literacy efforts that support LGB individuals in understanding and using their health coverage. Additionally, payers should advocate for the integration of behavioral health care into primary care settings to facilitate early intervention and continuous support.

Future studies should focus on identifying effective strategies to reduce stigma and improve access to care for LGB individuals. Research should explore interventions that address the specific barriers identified in this study, such as fear of involuntary commitment and discrimination within the health care system. Moreover, it is crucial to continue enhancing national data collection efforts to capture the diverse experiences of LGB individuals and inform evidence-based policy and practice changes. With NSDUH now collecting information on gender identity since 2023, future studies should also

focus on the experiences of transgender individuals to better understand and address the needs and challenges of this population. Additionally, given the pronounced disparities experienced by bisexual women, future research must specifically address their needs and challenges to ensure more equitable health outcomes. Collaborative research involving LGB communities, health care providers, and policymakers will be essential in developing targeted solutions and improving behavioral health outcomes for both the broader LGB population as well as subgroups within this population.

This study highlights the urgent need for a concerted national effort to address the behavioral health disparities faced by LGB individuals. Despite having insurance, many in this population continue to report barriers to accessing needed behavioral health care. Addressing these issues requires targeted interventions at both policy and practice levels, as well as a commitment to ongoing research and data collection. By implementing culturally competent care, exploring how financial and systemic barriers can be removed or lessened, and focusing on the unique needs of this population, work can be done to reduce health disparities and improve outcomes for LGB individuals. The collaboration of health care providers, payers, researchers, and policymakers will be crucial in ensuring that all individuals, regardless of sexual identity, receive the care they need to lead healthy and fulfilling lives.



References

- 1. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. *Moving Beyond Change Efforts: Evidence and Action to Support and Affirm LGBTQI+ Youth.* Center for Substance Abuse Prevention; 2023. Accessed July 16, 2024. https://store.samhsa.gov/product/moving-beyond-change-efforts-evidence-and-action-support-and-affirm-lgbtqi-youth/pep22-03-12-001
- 2. Medley G, Lipari RN, Bose J, Cribb DS, Kroutil LA, McHenry G. Sexual Orientation and Estimates of Adult Substance Use and Mental Health: Results from the 2015 National Survey on Drug Use and Health; 2016. Accessed July 1, 2024. https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/NSDUH-SexualOrientation-2015/NSDUH-SexualOrientation-2015/NSDUH-SexualOrientation-2015.htm
- 3. QIC-LGBTQ2S. The National Center for Youth with Diverse Sexual Orientation, Gender Identity & Expression Glossary. Accessed July 2, 2024. https://sogiecenter.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/04/QIC-SOGIE-Glossary-4.23.pdf
- 4. Health disparities affecting LGBTQ+ populations. *Commun Med (Lond)*. 2022;2:66. doi:10.1038/s43856-022-00128-1
- 5. Kates J, Ranji U, Beamesderfer A, Salganicoff A, Dawson L. Health and Access to Care and Coverage for Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender Individuals in the U.S. Kaiser Family Foundation; 2018. Accessed August 9, 2024. https://files.kff.org/attachment/Lisue-Brief-Health-and-Access-to-Care-and-Coverage-for-LGBT-Individuals-in-the-US

- 6. Mahowald L, Brady M, Medina C.

 Discrimination and Experiences Among

 LGBTQ People in the US: 2020 Survey

 Results. Center for American Progress; 2021.

 Accessed September 19, 2024. https://www.

 americanprogress.org/article/discriminationexperiences-among-lgbtq-people-us-2020survey-results
- 7. Dentato MP. The minority stress perspective. *Psychol AIDS Exch.* 2012;37:12-15.
- 8. Meyer IH. Prejudice, social stress, and mental health in lesbian, gay, and bisexual populations: conceptual issues and research evidence. *Psychol Bull.* 2003;129(5):674-697. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.129.5.674
- Paschen-Wolff MM, Kidd JD, Paine EA. The state of the research on opioid outcomes among lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer, and other sexuality- and gender-diverse populations: a scoping review. *LGBT Health*. 2023;10(1):1-17. doi:10.1089/lgbt.2022.0036
- 10. Substance Abuse and Mental Health
 Services Administration. Lesbian, Gay,
 and Bisexual Behavioral Health: Results
 from the 2021 and 2022 National Surveys
 on Drug Use and Health; 2023. Accessed
 July 1, 2024. https://www.samhsa.
 gov/data/sites/default/files/reports/
 rpt41899/2022NSDUHLGBBrief061623.pdf
- 11. Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality. Racial/Ethnic Differences in Substance Use, Substance Use Disorders, and Substance Use Treatment Utilization among People Aged 12 or Older (2015-2019); 2021. Accessed July 2, 2024. https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/reports/rpt35326/2021NSDUHSUChartbook102221B.pdf

- 12. Panchal N, Saunders H, Ndugga N. Five Key
 Findings on Mental Health and Substance Use
 Disorders by Race/Ethnicity. Kaiser Family
 Foundation; 2022. Accessed September 20,
 2024. https://www.kff.org/mental-health/
 issue-brief/five-key-findings-on-mental-healthand-substance-use-disorders-by-race-ethnicity
- 13. Powell D. Educational attainment and US drug overdose deaths. *JAMA Health Forum*. 2023;4(10):e233274. doi:10.1001/jamahealthforum.2023.3274
- 14. Kondirolli F, Sunder N. Mental health effects of education. *Health Econ.* 2022;31(Suppl 2):22-39. https://doi.org/10.1002/hec.4565
- 15. Fleming CB, White HR, Catalano RF.
 Romantic relationships and substance use in early adulthood: an examination of the influences of relationship type, partner substance use, and relationship quality. *J Health Soc Behav*. 2010;51(2):153-167.
 doi:10.1177/0022146510368930
- 16. Spiker RL. Mental health and marital status. In: Cockerham WC, Dingwall R, Quah S, eds. The Wiley Blackwell Encyclopedia of Health, Illness, Behavior, and Society. 1st ed. Wiley; 2014:1485-1489. doi:10.1002/9781118410868. wbehibs256
- 17. Baptiste-Roberts K, Hossain M. Socioeconomic disparities and self-reported substance abuse-related problems. *Addict Health*. 2018;10(2):112-122. doi:10.22122/ahj.v10i2.561
- 18. Shields-Zeeman L, Smit F. The impact of income on mental health. *Lancet Public Health*. 2022;7(6):e486-e487. doi:10.1016/S2468-2667(22)00094-9
- 19. Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality. 2020 National Survey on Drug Use and Health (NSDUH): Methodological Summary and Definitions. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration; 2021. Accessed July 2, 2024. https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/reports/rpt35330/2020NSDUHMethodSummDefs091721.pdf

- 20. Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality. 2021 National Survey on Drug Use and Health (NSDUH): Methodological Summary and Definitions. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration; 2022. Accessed July 16, 2024. https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/reports/rpt39442/2021NSDUHMethodSummDefs100422.pdf
- 21. Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality. 2022 National Survey on Drug Use and Health (NSDUH): Methodological Summary and Definitions. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration; 2023. Accessed July 16, 2024. https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/reports/rpt42729/2022-nsduh-method-summary-defs/2022-nsduh-method-summary-defs-110123.pdf
- 22. Thorne Harbour Health. The Cost of Adverse
 Mental Health Outcomes in the LGBTIQ+
 Victorian Adult Population; 2022. Accessed
 September 20, 2024. https://www.deloitte.com/au/en/services/economics/analysis/cost-of-adverse-mental-health-outcomes-lgbtiq-victorian-adult-population.html
- 23. Brown TNT, Herman JL. Intimate Partner Violence and Sexual Abuse Among LGBT People. The Williams Institute; 2014. Accessed September 16, 2024. https://williamsinstitute.law.ucla.edu/publications/ipv-sex-abuse-lgbt-people
- 24. Coston BM. Power and inequality: intimate partner violence against bisexual and non-monosexual women in the United States. *J Interpers Violence*. 2021;36(1-2):381-405. doi:10.1177/0886260517726415
- 25. Kerr DL, Santurri L, Peters P. A comparison of lesbian, bisexual, and heterosexual college undergraduate women on selected mental health issues. *J Am Coll Health*. 2013;61(4):185-194. doi:10.1080/07448481.2013.787619

- 26. Wesley C, Van CM, Mossburg SE. *Patient*Safety Concerns and the LGBTQ+ Population.
 Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality;
 2023. Accessed September 20, 2024. https://psnet.ahrq.gov/perspective/patient-safety-concerns-and-lgbtq-population
- 27. Balsam KF, Molina Y, Beadnell B, Simoni J, Walters K. Measuring multiple minority stress: the LGBT People of Color Microaggressions Scale. *Cultur Divers Ethnic Minor Psychol*. 2011;17(2):163-174. doi:10.1037/a0023244
- 28. Arlee L, Cowperthwaite R, Ostermeyer BK. Facing stigma and discrimination as both a racial and a sexual minority member of the LGBTQ+ community. *Psychiatr Ann*. 2019;49(10):441-445. doi:10.3928/00485713-20190910-02
- 29. Martin S, Katz JW, McDermott DT. Intersecting identities: gender and sexual diversity. In: Semlyen J, Rohleder P, eds. *Sexual Minorities and Mental Health*. Springer International Publishing; 2023:135-162. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-37438-8_7
- 30. Walubita T, Beccia AL, Boama-Nyarko E, Ding EY, Ferrucci KA, Jesdale BM. Complicating narratives of sexual minority mental health: an intersectional analysis of frequent mental distress at the intersection of sexual orientation, gender identity, and race/ethnicity. *LGBT Health*. 2022;9(3):161-168. doi:10.1089/lgbt.2021.0099
- 31. Pitt M, Taylor P, Dunlop BJ. Bisexual women's experiences of receiving help for mental health difficulties through psychological therapy: a qualitative exploration. *Psychol Sex Orientat Gend Divers*. Published online April 20, 2023. doi:10.1037/sgd0000638
- 32. Subcommittee on Sexual Orientation, Gender Identity, and Variations in Sex Characteristics (SOGI) Data, Subcommittee on Equitable Data. Federal Evidence Agenda on LGBTQI+ Equity; 2023. Accessed August 10, 2024. https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/Federal-Evidence-Agenda-on-LGBTQI-Equity.pdf

- 33. Medina C, Mahowald L. *Collecting Data About LGBTQI+ and Other Sexual and Gender-Diverse Communities*. Center for American Progress; 2022. Accessed September 20, 2024. https://www.americanprogress.org/article/collecting-data-about-lgbtqi-and-other-sexual-and-gender-diverse-communities
- 34. Waad A. Caring for our community: telehealth interventions as a promising practice for addressing population health disparities of LGBTQ+ communities in health care settings. *Del J Public Health*. 2019;5(3):12-15. doi:10.32481/djph.2019.06.005
- 35. Fredriksen-Goldsen KI, Hoy-Ellis CP, Goldsen J, Emlet CA, Hooyman NR. Creating a vision for the future: key competencies and strategies for culturally competent practice with lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender (LGBT) older adults in the health and human services. *J Gerontol Soc Work*. 2014;57(2-4):80-107. doi:10.1080/01634372.2014.890690
- 36. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. NSDUH Data Files (NSDUH-2019-DS0001). Accessed July 15, 2024. https://www.datafiles.samhsa.gov/dataset/national-survey-drug-use-and-health-2019-nsduh-2019-ds0001
- 37. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services
 Administration. National Survey on Drug
 Use and Health (NSDUH). Accessed July
 16, 2024. <a href="https://www.samhsa.gov/data/data-we-collect/nsduh-national-survey-drug-use-and-health#:~:text=The%20Federal%20
 Government%20has,conducted%20the%20%20
 survey%20since%201971
- 38. Austin PC. An introduction to propensity score methods for reducing the effects of confounding in observational studies. *Multivariate Behav Res.* 2011;46(3):399-424. doi:10.1080/0027317 1.2011.568786

APPENDIX A

Contributors

This publication was developed through significant contributions from the following individuals:

SAMHSA Project Leads

Brian Altman

Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration

Sam Ames

Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration

Amy Andre

Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration

Mitchell Berger

Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration

Samantha Brown

Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration

Trina Dutta

Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration

Jennifer Hoenig

Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration

Udeme Umo

Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration

Other Contributors

Joanne Angosta

Westat

Kellan Baker

Whitman-Walker Institute

Shoma Ghose

Westat

Mustafa Karakus

Westat

Annaka Paradis

Westat

Jeffrey Taylor

Westat

Angela Weeks

National SOGIE Center

APPENDIX B

Methodology

The current study is a secondary analysis of National Survey on Drug Use and Health (NSDUH) data collected between 2015 and 2019. NSDUH is a nationally representative, cross-sectional survey of noninstitutionalized individuals conducted annually. It has been instrumental in providing statistical data on alcohol use, tobacco use, drug use, mental health, and other health-related issues among the general population³⁶ since 1971.³⁷

Analytical Methodology

Sexual identity (lesbian/gay, bisexual, straight) and gender (male/female) were identified from NSDUH data. Gender was determined using the variable "IRSEX," recorded by interviewers as either "male" or "female." Sexual identity was determined using the variable "SEXIDENT," where respondents were asked, "Which one of the following do you consider yourself to be?" with response options including "heterosexual, that is, straight," "lesbian or gay," and "bisexual."

Propensity score matching, or "matching," is a method used to compare people from different groups (like different sexual orientations) who have similar characteristics. This approach helps create fair comparisons and reduces bias that might arise from other differences between the group.³⁸

Propensity scores were used to match straight males with gay males and bisexual males. Likewise, straight females were matched with lesbian and bisexual females. Additionally, propensity scores were used to match bisexual males with gay males and bisexual females with lesbian females. Propensity scores were calculated using several covariates, including individuals' educational attainment, race, marital status, and participation in government assistance programs.

Propensity Scores Help Create Groups That Are Similar and Avoid Biased Comparisons

For the current study, groups were matched based on the following variables:

- Educational attainment
- Race
- Participation in government assistance programs
- Marital status

After propensity scores were calculated, gay, lesbian, and bisexual individuals were then compared to straight individuals of the same gender with propensity scores closest to theirs (a technique known as a "nearest neighbor match").³⁸ Additionally, analyses used an exact match on individuals' age and year of data collection.

To analyze data from multiple years, the matching algorithm considered the year each respondent completed the survey. This ensured that comparisons were made only between individuals from the same survey year (e.g., LGB individuals who completed the 2017 NSDUH were compared with straight individuals who also completed the 2017 NSDUH). This approach allowed for accurate comparisons across different groups while accounting for variations between survey years.

After propensity score matching, t tests were conducted to compare outcomes of interest across groups, stratified by gender. These t tests provide direct comparison between lesbian females, bisexual females, and straight females and gay males, bisexual males, and straight males. For comparisons between LGB individuals and straight individuals (without stratification by gender), chi-square tests were conducted to compare outcomes of interest. In addition, statistical testing was conducted within the gender and sexual minority groups themselves, such as contrasting bisexual males with gay males and bisexual females with lesbian females, to further analyze nuanced differences and similarities within these subgroups.



Of the 210,392 adult respondents who provided data on their sexual identity from 2015 to 2019:

- 2,348 males identified as gay
- 2,292 females identified as lesbian or gay
- 2,350 males identified as bisexual
- 8,017 females identified as bisexual
- 93,506 males identified as straight or heterosexual
- 101,879 females identified as straight or heterosexual

LGB individuals were compared to their matched straight peers on the following variables:

- Substance use
- Mental health concerns
- Receipt of needed substance use and mental health care
- Barriers to care access
- Insurance coverage

Medicaid and Other Public Health Insurance Options Considered in Analyses*

- CHAMPVA: The Civilian Health and Medical Program of the Department of Veterans Affairs (CHAMPVA) is a comprehensive health care program in which the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) shares the cost of covered health care services and supplies with eligible beneficiaries.
- Medicaid/CHIP: Medicaid is a public assistance program that pays for medical care for people with low income and people with disabilities. CHIP (The Children's Health Insurance Program) provides low-cost health coverage to children in families that earn too much money to qualify for Medicaid.
- TRICARE: TRICARE is a health care program for active-duty and retired uniformed services members and their families.
- * For more information, visit healthcare.gov

APPENDIX C

Detailed Tables

Table C-1. Selected Demographic Variables by Sexual Identity and Gender, Adults Ages 18 and Older, 2015–2019 (Unmatched Sample)

		Male			Female	
	Gay (n=2,348)	Bisexual (n = 2,350)	Straight (n = 93,506)	Lesbian (n=2,292)	Bisexual (n = 8,017)	Straight (n=101,879)
Age						
18–25	18.9%	28.9%	14.1%	21.5%	40.7%	12.1%
26–34	22.6%	22.4%	16.1%	21.9%	29.1%	14.8%
35–49	22.5%	19.6%	25.2%	22.9%	19.9%	24.4%
50–64	26.7%	18.2%	25.5%	22.7%	7.7%	26.2%
65 or older	9.4%	10.9%	19.2%	10.9%	2.6%	22.6%
Race and Ethnicity						
Non-Hispanic White	61.5%	59.8%	64.9%	63.0%	60.8%	64.4%
Non-Hispanic Black/African American	11.3%	10.1%	11.1%	15.7%	13.8%	12.4%
Non-Hispanic Other Race	7.7%	10.2%	7.8%	6.2%	9.2%	8.0%
Hispanic	19.4%	20.0%	16.2%	15.1%	16.2%	15.3%
Education						
Less Than High School	7.6%	12.6%	13.3%	10.3%	12.6%	11.5%
High School Graduate	16.6%	24.5%	26.8%	20.7%	26.1%	23.1%
Some College/Associate's	30.6%	34.0%	28.8%	33.8%	37.8%	32.9%
College Graduate or Higher	45.2%	29.0%	31.1%	35.2%	23.6%	32.5%

Table C-1. Selected Demographic Variables by Sexual Identity and Gender, Adults Ages 18 and Older, 2015–2019 (Unmatched Sample) (continued)

		Male		Female				
	Gay (n=2,348)	Bisexual (n = 2,350)	Straight (n = 93,506)	Lesbian (n=2,292)	Bisexual (n = 8,017)	Straight (n=101,879)		
Marital Status								
Married	15.9%	29.2%	55.1%	25.3%	25.0%	51.4%		
Widowed	1.8%	2.9%	3.1%	2.8%	2.1%	9.0%		
Divorced or Separated	6.0%	10.5%	12.2%	11.8%	14.1%	15.8%		
Never Married	76.3%	57.4%	29.6%	60.1%	58.9%	23.9%		
Government Assistance ^a								
Yes	16.4%	19.9%	15.2%	26.4%	31.4%	19.6%		
No	83.6%	80.1%	84.8%	73.7%	68.6%	80.4%		

^a Participation in government assistance programs, including food stamps/Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP).

Table C-2. Selected Demographic Variables by Sexual Identity and Gender, Adults Ages 18 and Older, 2015–2019 (Matched Sample)

	Male				Female			
	Gay (n = 2,348)	Straight (n = 2,348)	Bisexual (n = 2,350)	Straight $(n=2,350)$	Lesbian (n = 2,292)	Straight (n=12,292)	Bisexual (n = 8,017)	Straight $(n = 8,017)$
Race and Ethnicity								
Non-Hispanic White	58.7%	61.3%	54.6%	60.6%	59.7%	61.4%	58.5%	60.5%
Non-Hispanic Black/African American	12.3%	11.9%	17.6%	13.1%	9.6%	11.9%	13.8%	13.1%
Non-Hispanic Other Race	9.3%	10.0%	10.0%	9.2%	12.8%	9.9%	11.4%	9.3%
Hispanic	58.7%	61.3%	54.6%	60.6%	59.7%	61.4%	58.5%	60.5%

Table C-2. Selected Demographic Variables by Sexual Identity and Gender, Adults Ages 18 and Older, 2015–2019 (Matched Sample) (continued)

	Male				Female			
	Gay (n = 2,348)	Straight $(n=2,348)$	Bisexual (n = 2,350)	Straight $(n=2,350)$	Lesbian (n = 2,292)	Straight (n=12,292)	Bisexual (n = 8,017)	Straight $(n=8,017)$
Education								
Less Than High School	9.5%	14.2%	11.1%	11.2%	3.0%	14.2%	14.0%	11.2%
High School Graduate	20.4%	29.4%	26.5%	23.7%	39.6%	29.4%	29.5%	23.7%
Some College/Associate's	32.9%	31.1%	35.4%	35.8%	36.8%	31.1%	38.9%	35.8%
College Graduate or Higher	37.2%	25.3%	27.0%	29.3%	20.6%	25.3%	17.6%	29.3%
Marital Status								
Married	3.1%	25.5%	19.8%	43.6%	19.8%	42.0%	20.0%	43.5%
Widowed	10.6%	18.2%	1.2%	4.6%	1.3%	1.8%	1.0%	4.6%
Divorced or Separated	4.2%	9.3%	8.5%	12.6%	6.8%	9.2%	10.0%	12.6%
Never Married	82.1%	47.0%	70.5%	39.2%	72.1%	47.0%	69.0%	39.3%
Government Assistance ^a								
Yes	17.0%	16.9%	28.4%	22.4%	21.1%	16.9%	33.2%	22.4%
No	83.0%	83.1%	71.6%	77.6%	78.9%	83.1%	66.8%	77.6%

^a Participation in government assistance programs, including food stamps/Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP).

Table C-3. Past-Month Substance Use by Sexual Identity and Gender, Adults Ages 18 and Older, 2015–2019 (Matched Sample)

	Male				Female					
Past-Month Substance Use	Gay (n=2,348)	Straight $(n = 95,854)$	Bisexual (n = 2,350)	Straight (n = 95,856)	Lesbian (n = 2,292)	Straight (n=104,171)	Bisexual (n = 8,017)	Straight (n=109,896)		
Alcohol	66.5%*	60.9%	62.4%	60.8%	61.8%*	53.4%	62.8%*	53.5%		
Alcohol (Binge Use)	14.7%	13.8%	14.7%	13.9%	13.2%*	10.3%	13.7%*	10.6%		
Cigarettes	12.9%	12.2%	14.0%	13.1%	11.8%*	7.8%	13.7%*	7.9%		
Cocaine	2.3%*	1.3%	1.9%	1.3%	1.0%*	0.5%	1.7%*	0.6%		
Opioids	3.3%*	1.8%	2.5%	1.8%	2.6%*	1.2%	3.5%*	1.3%		
Hallucinogens	2.2%*	1.1%	2.2%*	1.1%	0.8%*	0.4%	1.6%*	0.5%		
Inhalants	5.2%*	0.2%	1.3%*	0.2%	0.2%	0.1%	0.3%*	0.1%		
Marijuana	22.3%*	16.3%	22.3%*	16.4%	17.7%*	9.5%	24.6%*	9.8%		
Methamphetamine	1.8%*	0.5%	1.0%	0.5%	0.4%	0.2%	0.9%*	0.3%		
Other Drug Use ^a	4.5%*	2.3%	3.2%*	2.3%	3.6%*	1.7%	0.5%*	1.7%		

^{*} Significantly different from "Straight," with p < 0.05.

^a Includes crack cocaine, heroin, pain reliever misuse, and tranquilizer misuse.

Table C-4. Past-Year Barriers to Mental Health (MH) Care by Sexual Identity and Gender, Adults Ages 18 and Older, 2015–2019 (Matched Sample)

	Male				Female				
Barrier	Gay (n = 2,348)	Straight $(n=4,295)$	Bisexual (n = 2,350)	Straight (n = 4,392)	Lesbian (n = 2,292)	Straight (n = 9,247)	Bisexual (n = 8,017)	Straight (n=11,138)	
Cost	46.5%*	38.2%	48.4%*	38.1%	49.4%*	37.2%	47.2%*	37.3%	
Fear of neighbors' negative opinions	17.7%	15.6%	18.2%	15.6%	11.8%	11.1%	11.5%	11.3%	
Fear of negative effect on job	13.3%	11.4%	11.4%	11.4%	14.6%*	8.3%	11.8%*	8.4%	
Insurance did not cover at all	7.0%	7.7%	8.7%	7.6%	7.2%	7.0%	8.2%	7.0%	
Insurance did not pay enough	20.9%*	10.9%	15.7%*	10.6%	15.8%	13.2%	16.7%*	12.9%	
Did not know where to go	26.7%	24.9%	26.8%	24.8%	22.5%	23.6%	27.1%*	23.7%	
Confidentiality concerns	11.0%	10.6%	13.8%	10.6%	10.0%	9.3%	11.6%*	9.5%	
Fear of being committed ^a	17.7%	14.4%	18.9%*	14.6%	20.0%*	11.9%	20.4%*	12.2%	
Did not think treatment needed	8.2%*	13.4%	11.7%	13.4%	9.6%	11.0%	10.4%	11.1%	
Could handle problems without	24.6%	28.0%	23.9%	27.9%	21.2%*	30.9%	28.8%	30.9%	
Did not think treatment would help	13.9%	13.7%	11.5%	13.8%	9.1%	11.4%	12.9%	11.5%	
Did not have time	14.3%	16.0%	14.0%	16.0%	15.7%*	24.4%	23.6%	24.2%	

^{*} Significantly different from "Straight," with p < 0.05.

^a Reflects respondents' concerns that they might be committed to a psychiatric hospital or might have to take medicine.



SAMHSA's mission is to lead public health and service delivery efforts that promote mental health, prevent substance misuse, and provide treatments and supports to foster recovery while ensuring equitable access and better outcomes.

1-877-SAMHSA-7 (1-877-726-4727) | 1-800-487-4889 (TDD) | <u>www.samhsa.gov</u>

Photos are for illustrative purposes only. Any person depicted in a photo is a model.

